1998

Laina Roundy, Plaintiff-Appellant v. Travis Staley, Defendant-Appellee, : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This case is on appeal from a final judgment and a final order of the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County (Judge David S. Young). Laina Roundy, the plaintiff-appellant, appealed to the Utah Supreme Court, which has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(j). The Utah Supreme Court, pursuant to Rule 42 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, “poured” this appeal “over” to this Court. This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j).

II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether, in this personal injury case, the District Court committed reversible error in refusing to order counsel for defendant-appellee Travis Staley to disclose a planned “surveillance video” evidentiary presentation and planned testimony regarding that video.

Applicable Standard of Appellate Review

The applicable standard of appellate review with respect to this issue appears to be *de novo* (as purely a question of law). “[A]ppellate review of a trial court’s determination of the law is usually characterized by the term ‘correctness’” State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994); “correctness” means “the appellate court decides the matter for itself and does not defer in any degree to the trial judge’s determination of the law.” *Id.*; State v. Deli, 861 P.2d 431, 433 (Utah 1993). See, also, inasmuch as the issue deals with the application of Rule 26(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, rather than the “balancing of factors” analysis that might lead to an

"abuse-of-discretion" standard of review, State v. Horton, 848 P.2d 708, 713 (Utah App. 1993); Schreiter v. Wasatch Manor, Inc., 871 P.2d 570, 572 (Utah App. 1994).

This issue was preserved in the District Court proceedings by oral objections raised by oral argument by counsel for Ms. Roundy (Tr. of proceedings of May 9, 1997, at 13-22; Tr. of proceedings of May 13, 1997, at 6-10).

2. Whether the District Court committed reversible error in denying Ms. Roundy's Motion for New Trial based on "... surprise, which ordinary prudence could not have guarded against" under Rule 59(a)(3) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, inhering in Mr. Staley's said planned evidentiary presentation.

Applicable Standard of Appellate Review

The applicable standard with respect to this issue appears to be whether the District Court clearly abused its discretion in denying the Motion for a New Trial. Amoss v. Bennion, 517 P.2d 1008, 1010 (Utah 1973).

This issue was preserved in the District Court proceedings by Ms. Roundy's Motion for New Trial (R. at 916-17); by her Memorandum in Support of that Motion (R. at 918-38); by her Reply Memorandum in Support of that Motion (R. at 999-1000); and at oral argument on that Motion (Tr. of September 5, 1997 proceedings, at 6-21).

3. Whether the District Court committed reversible error in denying Ms. Roundy's Motion for New Trial based on "irregularity in the proceedings of the ... adverse party, or any order of the court, or abuse of discretion by which [Ms. Roundy] was prevented from having a fair trial," under Rule 59(a)(1) of the Utah Rules of Civil

Procedure, inhering in Mr. Staley's said planned evidentiary presentation and the District Court's said refusal to order disclosure thereof.

Applicable Standard of Appellate Review

The applicable standard with respect to this issue appears to be whether the District Court clearly abused its discretion in denying the Motion for a New Trial. Amoss v. Bennion, 517 P.2d 1008, 1010 (Utah 1973).

This issue was preserved in the District Court proceedings by Ms. Roundy's Motion for New Trial (R. at 916-17); by her Memorandum in Support of that Motion (R. at 918-38); by her Reply Memorandum in Support of that Motion (R. at 999-1000); and at oral argument on that Motion (Tr. of September 5, 1997 proceedings, at 6-21).

4. Whether the District Court committed reversible error in denying Ms. Roundy's Motion for New Trial based on the "[e]rror in law," under Rule 59(a)(7) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, inhering in the District Court's said refusal to order disclosure of Mr. Staley's planned surveillance video and related evidentiary presentation.

Applicable Standard of Appellate Review

The applicable standard with respect to this issue appears to be whether the District Court clearly abused its discretion in denying the Motion for a New Trial. Amoss v. Bennion, 517 P.2d 1008, 1010 (Utah 1973).

This issue was preserved in the District Court proceedings by Ms. Roundy's Motion for New Trial (R. at 916-17); by her Memorandum in Support of

that Motion (R. at 918-38); by her Reply Memorandum in Support of that Motion (R. at 999-1000); and at oral argument on that Motion (Tr. of September 5, 1997 proceedings, at 6-21).

5. Whether the District Court committed reversible error in granting Mr. Staley's Motion for Directed Verdict on Ms. Roundy's punitive damages claim.

Applicable Standard of Appellate Review

The applicable standard of appellate review with respect to this issue appears to be whether there was any substantial evidence, or reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom, on which a reasonable jury could reach a verdict contrary to the result sought by the motion. *E.g.*, Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exch., 817 P.2d 789, 799 (Utah 1991); Hansen v. Stewart, 761 P.2d 14 (Utah 1988); Von Hake v. Thomas, 705 P.2d 766, 769 (Utah 1985); Koer v. Mayfair Mkts, 431 P.2d 566 (Utah 1967); Onyeabor v. Pro Roofing, Inc., 787 P.2d 525, 529 (Utah App. 1990).

This issue was preserved in the District Court proceedings, by oral argument (Tr. of May 14, 1997 proceedings, at 91-97).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND HISTORY OF SIGNIFICANT PROCEEDINGS IN DISTRICT COURT LITIGATION

On May 18, 1994, Laina Roundy, plaintiff-appellant, was, while driving her Pontiac Bonneville, attempting to make a left turn from southbound Redwood Road onto the eastbound I-80 on-ramp in Salt Lake City. She pulled into the left turn lane and waited for traffic to clear. She testified that she started her left turn just as the

light was turning from yellow to red (*e.g.*, Tr. of May 13, 1997 proceedings, at 40) and after several vehicles, proceeding northbound on Redwood Road, in the inside or westernmore of the two lanes of through traffic, had stopped or slowed on the yellow light (*id.* at 36). A Chevrolet Suburban, driven by Mr. Staley and proceeding in the outside or easternmore of the two lanes of northbound Redwood Road, entered the intersection at approximately 45 mph (*e.g.*, Tr. of May 9, 1997 proceedings, at 94), and collided with Ms. Roundy's car. Mr. Staley did not brake or take any evasive action (*e.g.*, Tr. of May 14, 1997 proceedings, at 83). The collision was nearly head-on. Ms. Roundy's airbag deployed but she still sustained allegedly serious personal injuries. Mr. Staley testified that the light had just turned yellow (Tr. of May 14, 1997 proceedings, at 102) when he entered the intersection, but no witness gave a fact-based explanation for why several vehicles traveling in the direction Mr. Staley was traveling would be slowing and stopping (Mr. Staley acknowledged that slowing and stopping to be a fact -- Tr. of May 14, 1997 proceedings, at 108-09) except in response to a yellow light. Each driver's view of the other driver's vehicle was obscured by one or more high-profile vehicles in that westernmore lane of northbound Redwood Road (*e.g.*, Tr. of May 13, 1997 proceedings, at 38; Tr. of May 14, 1997 proceedings, at 85).

Ms. Roundy brought this action seeking to recover for her injuries and damages suffered, sustained, and incurred in the subject collision. She was originally represented by her husband, Thor B. Roundy. When it became apparent that the case was headed for trial, Ms. Roundy retained her present counsel.

During the jury selection process, counsel for Mr. Staley, in the course of

giving the names of witnesses he would call at trial, gave the name of one Ron Gunderson as a possible "rebuttal" witness. Neither Ms. Roundy nor her counsel nor anyone associated with her side of the case knew who Ron Gunderson was or what his role in the case would be (*e.g.*, Tr. of May 9, 1997 proceedings, at 13; Affidavit of Peter C. Collins (R. at 941-44); Affidavit of John H. Burraston, III (R. at 945-47)). Mr. Staley had not disclosed the existence of Mr. Gunderson or his proposed role in the case or anything regarding the surveillance videotape, in response to Ms. Roundy's discovery requests seeking pre-trial disclosure of trial witnesses and exhibits (R. at 1030-40). Approximately 7 1/2 months prior to trial, Ms. Roundy propounded, under Rule 26(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (R. at 1041), a request for supplementation of discovery responses. Even in response to that request, neither Ron Gunderson's name nor his proposed involvement in the case was ever divulged prior to trial. Nor was the existence of the surveillance video that was ultimately commented on by defendant's witnesses and shown to the jury ever divulged or shown to Ms. Roundy, or her counsel, prior to trial.

Shortly after Mr. Gunderson's name was first mentioned by Mr. Staley's counsel, Ms. Roundy's counsel inquired of Mr. Staley's counsel regarding Mr. Gunderson and inquiring, specifically, about the nature of his proposed involvement in the case (Tr. of May 9, 1997 proceedings, at 13). Mr. Staley's counsel refused to disclose the requested information (*id.*), and Ms. Roundy's counsel brought the matter up with the District Court (*id.* at 13-22). In the course of argument on the matter, Mr. Staley's counsel contended, among other things, that, because there was no court

order that all witnesses be disclosed, Mr. Staley and his counsel were under no obligation to disclose Mr. Gunderson's identity or the subject matter of his proposed testimony prior to trial and that (in the face of Ms. Roundy's counsel's contention that Rule 26(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure required Mr. Staley to supplement his responses to discovery requests when Ron Gunderson's possible involvement became apparent to Mr. Staley's counsel) Ms. Roundy's remedy, if she was dissatisfied with Mr. Staley's discovery responses, was to have filed a motion to compel prior to trial (*id.* at 16). Counsel for Mr. Staley also contended that the District Court's requiring him to divulge the role of Mr. Gunderson and his projected testimony would do away with what he essentially acknowledged to be the surprise nature of the projected testimony and that Mr. Gunderson's testimony would be used to show that Ms. Roundy was a liar (*id.* at 17). The District Court, after expressing the view that it could conceive of nothing more dramatic in a courtroom than a witness's being exposed as a liar (*id.* at 20), and apparently rejecting Ms. Roundy's counsel's responding contention that the Rules make no exception for drama (*id.* at 20-21), denied Ms. Roundy's request that the nature of Mr. Gunderson's proposed evidentiary presentation be disclosed (*id.* at 22).

Mr. Gunderson ultimately testified and played to the jury a surveillance videotape that purported to show Ms. Roundy engaged in activities she purportedly told the jury she could not do. Prior to the time that Mr. Gunderson testified and prior to the time that the video was shown, Dr. Gerald Moress, defendant's "independent" medical examination doctor and a very well-credentialed neurologist (Tr. of May 14, 1997 proceedings, at 6-9), who had prepared an independent medical evaluation

("IME") report setting forth his view that Ms. Roundy had suffered a 5% permanent impairment (*id.* at 21) as a result of the subject motor vehicle collision, in essence testified that, after rendering that impairment opinion, he had viewed the videotape and, based on that viewing, had reason to question Ms. Roundy's veracity (*id.* at 22).¹

Dr. Moress never supplemented his written IME report.

Ms. Roundy maintains that she was candid in her testimony and that the videotape shows nothing different from what she testified to but acknowledges that the jury may have viewed it differently, especially after having been told by as eminent an authority as Dr. Moress, that it showed things contrary to what she had told him about.

The testimony of Mr. Gunderson and his surveillance videotape did not deal with the issue of who had what percentage of fault in the subject collision, but, as evidenced by Ms. Roundy's counsel's Affidavit (R. at 941-44) and the Affidavit of Ms. Roundy's liability expert (R. at 945-47), submitted subsequent to trial, the concern with the mysterious matter of Ron Gunderson considerably distracted Ms. Roundy's team. Probably more importantly, Mr. Staley's counsel developed a central theme, throughout the case, including in his closing argument (*e.g.*, Tr. of May 15, 1997 proceedings, at 25-26; 40-41; 46-47), linking Ms. Roundy's supposed lack of credibility with respect to the severity of her injuries with her supposed lack of credibility regarding how the subject collision occurred. Because Ms. Roundy's testimony that the

¹It was only during Dr. Moress's testimony, on direct examination, and not in response to a question that signalled what was coming (Tr. of May 14, 1997 proceedings, at 21-22), that Ms. Roundy and her counsel became aware of the existence of the surveillance video.

light was red when Mr. Staley entered the intersection (*e.g.*, Tr. of May 13, 1997 proceedings, at 40-41) was the only direct evidence on that crucial particular,² her credibility was central to her liability case.

At the conclusion of Ms. Roundy's case, Mr. Staley moved for directed verdict (Tr. of May 14, 1997 proceedings, at 92) on Ms. Roundy's punitive damages claim. Even though evidence had been introduced that supported the proposition that Mr. Staley, driving a heavy, truck-like vehicle, roared blindly into a busy intersection on a light that had been red for as long as two seconds (*e.g.*, Tr. of May 9, 1997 proceedings, at 105-08), or longer, the District Court granted that Motion (Tr. of May 14, 1997 proceedings, at 96).

The jury ultimately determined, by its Special Verdict (R. at 887-89), that both Mr. Staley and Ms. Roundy were negligent and that the negligence of each of them was a proximate cause of Ms. Roundy's injuries. The jury also determined (*id.*), having been instructed that if Ms. Roundy should be adjudged to have had 50% or more of the causal fault she would recover nothing (R. at 855), that Mr. Staley had 40% of the causal fault and that Ms. Roundy had 60% of the causal fault, and answered none of the questions regarding Ms. Roundy's damages.

The District Court then entered judgment, on the verdict, in favor of Mr. Staley (R. at 907-09).

²In his opening statement, Mr. Staley's counsel himself stated: "So it's going to be a question of what color the light was and exactly how this transpired." Second Tr. of May 8, 1997 proceedings, at 23.

Ms. Roundy then filed her Motion for a New Trial (R. at 916-17), contending that she was entitled to a new trial on alternative bases including the following:

1. "Irregularity in the proceedings of the court ... or adverse party, or any order of the court, or abuse of discretion by which [Ms. Roundy] was prevented from having a fair trial" (Rule 59(a)(1));
2. "Accident or surprise, which ordinary prudence could not have guarded against" (Rule 59(a)(3));
3. "Error in law" (Rule 59(a)(7)).

The District Court denied that Motion (R. at 1054-56), and this Appeal ensued.

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. The District Court committed reversible error in refusing to order counsel for Mr. Staley to disclose the planned surveillance video and related evidentiary presentation.

2. The District Court abused its discretion and committed reversible error by denying Ms. Roundy's Motion for New Trial based on "... surprise, which ordinary prudence could not have guarded against," under Rule 59(a)(3) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, inhering in Dr. Moress's testimony regarding the surveillance videotape, in Mr. Gunderson's testimony regarding the surveillance videotape, and in the surveillance videotape itself.

3. The District Court abused its discretion and committed reversible

error by denying Ms. Roundy's Motion for New Trial based on "irregularity in the proceedings of the ... adverse party, or any order of the court, or abuse of discretion by which [Ms. Roundy] was prevented from having a fair trial," under Rule 59(a)(1) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, with such irregularity and abuse of discretion having to do with Mr. Staley's counsel's refusing to disclose, in timely fashion, the surveillance video and related evidence, and the District Court's countenancing that non-disclosure.

4. The District Court abused its discretion and committed reversible error by denying Ms. Roundy's Motion for New Trial based on the District Court's "[e]rror in law," under Rule 59(a)(7) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, inhering in the District Court's refusal to order disclosure of Mr. Staley's planned surveillance video and related evidentiary presentation.

5. The District Court committed error in granting Mr. Staley's Motion for Directed Verdict on Ms. Roundy's punitive damages claim.

V. ARGUMENT

A. MR. STALEY'S COUNSEL FAILED TO ADHERE TO THE RULES IN REFUSING TO DISCLOSE HIS PLANNED EVIDENTIARY PRESENTATION, THE DISTRICT COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN REFUSING TO ORDER DISCLOSURE, AND MS. ROUNDY IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL UNDER EITHER THE "*DE NOVO*" STANDARD OF REVIEW OR THE "ABUSE-OF-DISCRETION" STANDARD OF REVIEW.

1. PRE-TRIAL PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

As this Court will readily observe, the first four of the five aspects (presented immediately hereinabove) of Ms. Roundy's argument are interrelated. They

all deal with the conduct of Mr. Staley's counsel in refusing to disclose Mr. Staley's planned evidentiary presentation regarding the surveillance video and the District Court's countenancing that conduct.

Rule 26 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides, in pertinent part:

- (e) **Supplementation of responses.** A party who has responded to a request for discovery with a response that was complete when made is under no duty to supplement his response to include information thereafter acquired, except as follows:
 - (1) A party is under a duty seasonably to supplement his response with respect to any question directly addressed to (A) the identity and location of persons having knowledge of discoverable matters, and (B) the identity of each person expected to be called as an expert witness at trial, the subject matter on which he is expected to testify, and the substance of his testimony.
 - (2) A party is under a duty seasonably to amend a prior response if he obtains information upon the basis of which (A) he knows that the response was incorrect when made, or (B) he knows that the response though correct when made is no longer true and the circumstances are such that a failure to amend the response is in substance a knowing concealment.
 - (3) A duty to supplement responses may be imposed by order of the court, agreement of the parties, or at any time prior to trial through new requests for supplementation of prior responses.

On or about October 19, 1994, Ms. Roundy propounded Plaintiffs' First Set of Interrogatories, Requests for Production of Documents and Things and Requests for Admission to Defendants. In that request Ms. Roundy included detailed definitions pertinent to the discovery requests at issue. Comprehensive definitions of the terms

"document" and "identify" appear in the Addendum hereto, at 2-4. Mr. Staley's pertinent responses to those discovery requests are the following (also reproduced in the Addendum hereto), at 6-8:

INTERROGATORY NO. 2: Identify all witnesses you intend to call on your behalf at trial on this matter. Include in your answer a brief summary of their proposed testimony.

ANSWER: OBJECTION. Discovery is on-going and counsel for defendant has not yet made decisions about which witnesses may be called at trial. Counsel for defendant will comply with the court's order for designating witnesses at the time designated by the court. Without waiving that objection, it is anticipated at this time that defense counsel will call: Plaintiffs, Defendants Neil Staley and Travis Staley, Melodie Kraft, Officer Hawk, Maryann Jiminez, expert witnesses as yet undetermined and undoubtedly others.

INTERROGATORY NO. 3: Identify all individuals who may have information concerning the allegations of Plaintiffs' Complaint and Defendant's Answer. Include in your answer a brief summary of the information which they may have.

ANSWER: Plaintiff would best know who has information about their Complaint. As to defendants' Answer, Objection: the Answer was prepared by counsel, and it is the product of counsel's mental impressions and legal analysis; as such the information requested is protected as work product pursuant to Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 26(b)(3). As to the general subject matter of this litigation, plaintiffs, defendants Neil Staley and Travis Staley, Officer Hawk, Melodie Kraft, Maryann Jiminez, plaintiffs' treating physicians and undoubtedly others.

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