1998

Laina Roundy, Plaintiff-Appellant, vs. Travis Staley, Defendant/Appellee : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

tape evidence was error because it had not been disclosed prior to trial. The court disagreed holding that because the plaintiff had not asked the defendant to reveal the existence of surveillance video tape evidence in any interrogatory or discovery proceeding, the defendant had no obligation to reveal its existence.

Similarly, in *Detiller v. Smith*, 638 So.2d 445 (La. Ct. App. 1994), the court was asked to address whether the plaintiff was prejudiced and unfairly surprised by the admission of surveillance video tape evidence that was made of the plaintiff during the course of trial. The video shows the plaintiff on a trial lunch break during which she removes a cervical collar that she had worn in the courtroom. In the video the plaintiff turns her head from side to side and tilts her head back as she drinks a soft drink. This evidence directly contradicted the plaintiff's testimony that she was in constant pain and that her weakness was so great that the only things she could do for herself was feed herself and go to the bathroom. *Id.* at 448. The court held that because the plaintiff had not submitted specific discovery requests that sought to obtain, or even inquired regarding the existence of surveillance video tape evidence, the defendant had no duty to produce the video tape and the evidence was admissible at trial.

Finally, in *Kiss v. Jacob*, 633 A.2d 544 (N.J. Ct. App. 1993), *overruled on other grounds*, 650 A.2d 336 (N.J. 1994), the court addressed the situation where the plaintiffs did not request surveillance evidence even though they knew of its existence. In *Kiss* the plaintiffs asked about the existence of surveillance photographs in their written discovery requests to the defendant. In his initial response, the defendant stated that no such evidence existed. The

defendant later supplemented his response to indicate that he had subsequently obtained surveillance evidence. Thereafter, the plaintiffs never requested the surveillance evidence which was admitted at trial. On appeal, the plaintiffs claimed they were unfairly surprised by the surveillance evidence and that the defendant had a discovery obligation to produce the surveillance evidence eventhough it had not been requested after it was disclosed to the plaintiffs. The court disagreed holding that absent a specific discovery request for the surveillance evidence, the defendant had no obligation to produce it. *Id.* at 547.

In accordance with the holdings of these cases Staley had no obligation to provide Roundy surveillance video evidence because it was never requested by Roundy. Furthermore, if Roundy was dissatisfied with Staley's responses to her discovery requests Roundy's remedy would have been to file a motion to compel. Roundy did not file a motion to compel and did not take any action to discover whether there was surveillance evidence. Roundy cannot complain of unfair surprise when she did nothing to determine the existence of surveillance evidence through available discovery methods.

The few cases cited by Roundy in her Opening Brief do not support her argument that Staley had a duty to produce the surveillance video tape when it was not specifically requested. In fact, only two of these cases involve surveillance video tape evidence.

The first case, *Dodson v. Persell*, 390 So.2d 704 (Fla. 1980), actually supports Staley's assertions in this matter. In *Dodson* the plaintiff submitted specific interrogatories to "discover whether surveillance of the [plaintiff] had taken place, whether photographs or movies

were taken, and, if so, the time and place taken, the substance of what the films purported to show, and the qualifications of the photographer.” The defendant objected to the request on the basis of the work product privilege and refused to produce the requested materials. The plaintiff then filed a motion to compel responses to these specific discovery requests, which was denied. Surveillance materials were presented at trial. On appeal the court held, “upon request a party must reveal the existence of any surveillance information he possesses whether or not it is intended to be presented at trial.” (Emphasis added.)

In the present case Roundy did not inquire regarding the existence of surveillance evidence or seek to obtain the surveillance video tape. Roundy did not seek to compel discovery from Staley as was done in *Dodson*. Moreover, as the *Dodson* court held, the surveillance video tape of Roundy was privileged work product until it was decided that it would be used at trial. (See also, *Grossman v. Emergency Cesspool and Sewer Cleaners, Inc.*, 617 N.Y.S.2d 422 (1994); *Ranft v. Lyons*, 471 N.W.2d 254 (Wis. Ct. App. 1991). This decision was not made until Roundy took the stand and testified inconsistent with her actual physical activities. Roundy cannot now complain that the trial court erred in allowing the admission of this evidence, nor can she complain that she was prejudiced by evidence of her own conduct that contradicts her testimony regarding her injuries and damages

In the second case cited by Roundy, *Lascano v. Vowell*, 940 P.2d 977 (Colo. Ct. App. 1996), the parties were required by rule to submit disclosure certificates including “a description, attached copy, or photograph of any exhibit that he or she might offer at trial” at

least 90 days before trial. Supplementation was required by rule at least 80 days before trial.

Defendant obtained a surveillance video tape of plaintiff and attempted to include it as an exhibit after the disclosure deadlines. The court would not allow the admission of the evidence because the defendant had failed to disclose it prior to the deadlines.

In the present case there is no rule that required Staley to designate trial exhibits or witnesses by a particular deadline. The trial court did not impose a deadline for the disclosure of trial exhibits or trial witnesses. Roundy never requested information regarding surveillance evidence in her discovery requests. Roundy never submitted a motion to compel additional discovery from Staley for the responses in which she was dissatisfied. Roundy's own failure to use available discovery methods to obtain information regarding surveillance evidence does not support her assertions that she was "ambushed" and "surprised" by surveillance video evidence presented by Staley at trial. Accordingly, Staley had no obligation to disclose the existence of the surveillance video or to produce it to Roundy.

B. Gunderson's Testimony and the Surveillance Video Tape Were Rebuttal Evidence.

In *Feola v. Egan*, 1998 WL 666964 (Conn. Super. Ct.), the Connecticut Superior Court upheld the trial court's admission of video surveillance evidence of the plaintiff that had not been disclosed prior to trial. The court also held that the trial court did not err in allowing a private investigator, who was not disclosed as a trial witness, to testify regarding the surveillance video tape, and about plaintiff's behavior that he observed that was not included on the video tape. *Id.* at 449. The court held the private investigator was a rebuttal fact witness.

Roundy cites *Turner v. Nelson*, 872 P.2d 1021 (Utah 1994), in support of her assertion that Gunderson, who prepared and testified regarding the surveillance video tape of Roundy, cannot be considered a rebuttal witness. In *Turner* the plaintiff attempted to call a witness to “rebut” evidence from the defendant that a stop sign was partially obstructed at an intersection where the automobile giving rise to the action occurred. The plaintiff asserted that this defense was a surprise and the witness she intended to call was a rebuttal witness. *Id.* at 1023. On appeal the Utah Supreme Court held that the trial court had the discretion to order the parties to disclose all potential witnesses prior to trial, which it had done. The Court also held that the trial court “had all of the evidence before it and was in the best position to determine whether [plaintiff] could reasonably have anticipated the obstructed-sign testimony.” The court held it would not reverse the trial court unless the plaintiff could demonstrate that the trial court had clearly abused its discretion and thereby affected the plaintiff’s rights. *Id.* at 1023-1024. Because the trial court had ordered the parties to disclose all witnesses prior to trial and because plaintiff “knew or should have anticipated that [defendant] would claim the sign was obstructed,”¹ the appellate court held it had properly precluded the plaintiff from calling the previously undisclosed witness.

¹The Court noted that the defendant had designated a “traffic design expert” witness and a fact witness to the accident who both testified that the stop sign at the intersection where the accident took place was obstructed. *Id.* at 1025. Thus, the plaintiff had prior notice of this defense.

In this case the trial court also had all of the evidence before it and was in the best position to determine whether Gunderson should have been allowed to testify as a rebuttal witness regarding his surveillance of Roundy. Furthermore, Staley did not know if Roundy would testify candidly regarding her injuries and physical limitations until she actually presented her testimony at trial. That is why when Gunderson was disclosed on the first day of trial, he was identified only as a “possible” witness. When Roundy failed to be forthright in her testimony counsel for Staley called Gunderson and presented the surveillance video tape evidence to rebut Roundy’s testimony.

Roundy also cites *Perez-Perez v. Popular Leasing Rental, Inc.*, 993 F.2d 281 (1st Cir. 1993) and *Smith v. Ford Motor Co.*, 626 F.2d 784 (10th Cir. 1980), for the proposition that it is error for a trial court to allow a previously undisclosed witness to testify at trial. Neither of these cases involve surveillance video tape evidence. In *Perez-Perez* the court held it was improper for the trial court to allow the plaintiff to call a previously undisclosed medical expert witness to testify at trial regarding the defendant’s eyesight. The court noted that this witness introduced, for the first time, a novel theory of liability in the case. Thus, the defendant had no time to review any records or conduct discovery regarding this theory. *Id.* at 286 -287. Likewise, in *Smith v. Ford Motor Co.* the court held that the defendant was unfairly prejudiced because the trial court allowed the plaintiff to call a previously undisclosed medical expert witness at trial to present a completely new and unexpected liability theory. *Id.* at 797.

In the present case neither Gunderson nor the surveillance video tape introduced a new theory of liability to the case. They simply presented facts regarding Roundy's own behavior which was relevant to Roundy's damage claims. This evidence, which counters Roundy's trial testimony regarding the severity of her physical injuries and her damage claims, is the classic form of rebuttal evidence because it shows Roundy contradicting herself through her own actions.

POINT II

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DENIED ROUNDY'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL, WHICH WAS BASED ON HER ASSERTION THAT AN ACCIDENT OR SURPRISE OCCURRED WHICH ORDINARY PRUDENCE COULD NOT HAVE GUARDED AGAINST.

Rule 59(a)(3) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that a new trial "may" be granted on the basis of "accident or surprise, which ordinary prudence could not have guarded against." In *Anderson v. Bradley*, 590 P.2d 339 (Utah 1979), the Utah Supreme Court held that a surprise which could have been guarded against by the utilization of available discovery methods, such as a motion to compel, may not serve as grounds for a new trial under this provision.

Roundy asserts that Staley's use of Gunderson and the surveillance video tape evidence was a surprise which ordinary prudence could not have guarded against and that she is therefore entitled to a new trial. Contrary to Roundy's assertion, Roundy could have guarded against the "surprise" of this evidence had she testified honestly and consistently regarding her

physical injuries and damages. She did not. Moreover, even if the Court considers the surveillance evidence a surprise, Roundy had an opportunity to guard against it using available discovery methods. Roundy could have inquired specifically regarding the existence of surveillance evidence. She did not. Roundy also could have submitted a motion to compel to inquire further about Staley's anticipated trial witnesses. She did not. Accordingly, the trial court properly denied Roundy's Motion for New Trial which was based on Rule 59(a)(3) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

POINT III

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DENIED ROUNDY'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL, WHICH WAS BASED ON HER ASSERTION THAT "IRREGULARITY IN THE PROCEEDINGS" OCCURRED.

Roundy also asserts that she is entitled to a new trial pursuant to Rule 59(a)(1) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. This rule states that a new trial "may" be granted if the court determines that there was "[i]rregularity in the proceedings of the court, jury or adverse party, or any order of the court, or abuse of discretion by which either party was prevented from having a fair trial." Roundy, however, fails to make even one reference to the record to support the allegation that "irregularities" occurred. Instead, Roundy vaguely refers to the record as a whole and concludes that the non-disclosure of the surveillance evidence was "most 'irregular'". (Roundy Opening Brief at 20.) Roundy also fails to provide legal support for her assertion that the admission of rebuttal surveillance evidence, that was not sought in discovery, should be considered an irregularity in the proceedings that entitles her to a new trial. Accordingly, the

trial court properly denied Roundy's Motion for new trial which was based on the unsupported assertion that an irregularity occurred that prevented her from having a fair trial.

POINT IV

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DENIED ROUNDY'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL, WHICH WAS BASED ON HER ASSERTION THAT "ERROR IN THE LAW" OCCURRED.

Rule 59(a)(7) provides that the trial court "may" grant a new trial if it determines that an "[e]rror in the law" has occurred. The "error" to which Roundy refers is the trial court's admission of surveillance evidence. Roundy fails to provide legal support for her assertion that the admission of rebuttal surveillance evidence, that was not sought by Roundy in discovery is error in the law.

Furthermore, Rule 59(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that a new trial may be granted only if one of the several circumstances discussed by Rule 59 exists, and "subject to the provisions of Rule 61 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure." By Rule 61, even if an error has been committed, a new trial may not be granted if the error is harmless. The Utah Supreme Court has held that "an error is harmful only if the likelihood of a different outcome is sufficiently high as to undermine [the appellate court's] confidence in the verdict." *Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exch.*, 817 P.2d 789, 796 (Utah 1991).

In *McDougal v. McCammon*, 455 S.E.2d 788 (W.V. 1995), the sole issue before the court on appeal was whether the trial court improperly admitted surveillance video evidence of one of the plaintiffs. The surveillance evidence was not disclosed to the plaintiffs prior to

trial, even though they had expressly requested such evidence in discovery. The Supreme Court of West Virginia characterized this evidence as contradiction or rebuttal in nature, and was therefore admissible to impeach the plaintiff. *Id.* at 795. The court also held that the defendant had violated discovery rules in failing to produce the surveillance video because it had been requested in discovery. However, the court held that the surveillance video evidence was relevant only to the issue of damages. Because the jury returned a verdict in favor of the defendant on the liability issue, and did not reach the issue of damages, the admission of the surveillance video tape was harmless error. The court stated, “[i]n conclusion, we hold that although the admission of the video tape may have been error, because the video tape in dispute did not affect the question of liability, its admission was not reversible error.” *Id.* at 799.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that an error was committed in this case with regard to the admission of surveillance evidence which was used to rebut Roundy’s lack of candor about her injuries, Roundy is not entitled to a new trial because this evidence only addressed the damages element of Roundy’s case. The jury did not go beyond the liability element of Roundy’s claims to reach the issue of damages in its deliberations. Instead, it determined that Roundy was 60% at fault for the accident. Thus, the alleged error raised by Roundy was harmless and her assertion that the trial court committed reversible error in denying her Motion for New Trial is groundless.

POINT V

**THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED STALEY'S MOTION FOR
DIRECTED VERDICT ON ROUNDY'S CAUSE OF ACTION FOR PUNITIVE
DAMAGES.**

Punitive damages may be awarded only under limited circumstances as set forth by Utah Code Ann. Section 78-18-1(1)(a):

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